
BEFORE THE 

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

In the Matter of: 

 

PARENTS ON BEHALF OF STUDENT, 

 

v. 

 

HERMOSA BEACH CITY SCHOOL 

DISTRICT. 

 

 

OAH CASE NO. 2012030863 

DECISION 

Clara L. Slifkin, Administrative Law Judge (ALJ), Office of Administrative Hearings 

(OAH), heard this matter on September 18-20, 2012, in Hermosa Beach, California.  

Eric Menyuk and Bryan Winn, Attorneys at Law, of Newman Aaronson Vanaman, 

represented Student. Student’s Mother and Father (collectively, Parents) attended the 

hearing on all days.  

Christopher Fernandes and Angela Gordon, Attorneys at Law, of Fagen Friedman 

& Fulfrost, represented Hermosa Beach City School District (District). Patricia Escalante, 

Superintendent and Director of Special Education (Superintendent Escalante), attended 

the hearing on all days. 

On March 20, 2012, Student filed a Request for Due Process Hearing (complaint). 

On April 20, 2012, for good cause shown, OAH granted the parties’ joint request to 

continue the due process hearing. The record remained open until closing briefs were 

filed on October 5, 2012, at which time the matter was submitted. 
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ISSUES1

1The issues have been slightly re-formulated from the issues as stated in the 

Prehearing Conference (PHC) Order, for the purpose of clarity. 

 

1. Did District deny Student a free and appropriate public education (FAPE) 

by failing to find Student eligible for special education services commencing September 

2010 through November 3, 2011? 

2. Did District deny Student a FAPE by failing to provide Student with an 

appropriate placement and services from September 2010 through January 12, 2012? 

3. Did District deny Student a FAPE beginning January 13, 2012, the date of 

his initial individualized educational program (IEP) by: 

a. depriving Parents of the right to meaningfully participate in the decision 

making process;  

b. failing to invite and include anyone from Westview School at the IEP; 

c. failing to address how Student’s accommodations and goals would be 

implemented during Student’s expulsion; and 

d. failing to offer an appropriate placement to address Student’s unique needs. 

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

JURISDICTION AND BACKGROUND 

1. Student is a 13-year-old boy, who at all relevant times, resided 50 percent 

of the time with his adoptive Mother within the boundaries of the Redondo Beach 

Unified School District (Redondo District) and 50 percent of the time with his adoptive 

Father in the District.  

2. From September 2005 through June 2010 Student attended Jefferson 

School in the Redondo District. In March 2006, psychiatrist John Tremblay diagnosed 
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Student with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Combined Type (ADHD). The 

diagnosis was confirmed by Valerie Maxwell, Ph.D., who also found that Student had 

auditory processing problems. 

3. Although not initially found eligible for special education, at a June 15, 

2007 IEP team meeting, Student was found eligible under the category of other health 

impairment (OHI). The IEP team offered Student a Resource Specialist Program (RSP) at 

the Learning Center weekly to address his deficits in writing. Parents consented to the 

IEP.  

4. During the 2007-2008 school year (third grade) and the 2008-2009 school 

year (fourth grade), Student continued to receive RSP services. At Student’s annual IEP in 

June 2009, the IEP team offered reduced RSP services, 30-minutes per month on a 

consultation basis. Parents consented to the IEP. 

JUNE 2010 TRIENNIAL ASSESSMENT 

5. In June 2010, Redondo District school psychologist Leslie Balin (Ms. Balin) 

and RSP teacher Nancy Walker (Ms. Walker) conducted a triennial assessment to 

determine whether Student continued to qualify for special education services. Although 

Ms. Balin and Ms. Walker did not testify at hearing, evidence was presented regarding 

their reported findings. Ms. Balin conducted the following battery of tests for the 

assessment: Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-IV (WISC-IV); Woodcock-Johnson 

III Tests of Achievement (WJ-III); Behavior Assessment System for Children, Second 

Edition (BASC-2); Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration 

(Beery VMI Fifth Edition); and Attention Deficit Disorder Evaluation Scale–Third Edition 

(ADDES-3).  

6. The assessment results, set forth in Ms. Balin’s June 10, 2010 report, 

demonstrated that Student’s general cognitive ability, as estimated by the WISC-IV, was 

in the high average range with a Full Scale IQ (FSIQ) of 117. Student’s perceptual 
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reasoning and organization was in the superior range and his verbal comprehension was 

in the high average range. Student’s general working memory abilities and general 

processing speed abilities were in the average range. 

7. Student demonstrated several relative strengths and several weaknesses 

on the WISC-IV. Student’s greatest strengths were on the subtests measuring verbal 

comprehension and perceptual reasoning. Student demonstrated a few relative 

weaknesses in tasks that required sustained attention. All subtest scores were in the 

average range and above, however he had the most difficulty with a task measuring his 

ability to remember and repeat random sequences of increasing length in both forwards 

and backwards position. Ms. Balin opined that Student’s pattern of strengths and 

weaknesses on the WISC-IV was very similar to the pattern he demonstrated during the 

first administration of the test in June 2006. Both verbal and perceptual reasoning 

composites were almost identical.  

8. Ms. Balin concluded Student’s academic skills, as measured by the WJ-III, 

indicated that Student’s overall reading skills were at the end of sixth grade level and 

Student’s oral reading fluency score was in the above average age for a sixth grader. 

Student’s overall math skills were at a mid-seventh grade level and his written language 

skills were at a mid-eighth grade level. Student scored at the beginning of the 13th 

grade level in the writing samples subtest. 

9. Ms. Balin observed Student in general education teacher Stephanie 

Hwang’s (Ms. Hwang) class on two occasions. During her first observation, she noted 

Student needed redirection, and his attention and on-task behavior was intermittent. 

During her second observation, she noted Student was picking on his skin, failing to 

follow direction and talking to his peers. Student was generally polite and cooperative 

during Ms. Balin’s administration of his assessments.  
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10. Ms. Hwang and Father completed the BASC-2, a multidimensional system 

used to evaluate behavior and social/emotional development. Ms. Balin’s report stated 

that the BASC-2 showed that Ms. Hwang scored Student in the clinically significant 

range in the areas of externalizing problems, hyperactivity, adaptability and social skills 

behavior; and she scored Student as ‚at risk‛ for aggression, conduct problems, 

depression, behavioral symptoms index, and adaptive skills. Father scored Student as ‚at 

risk‛ in the areas of externalizing problems, hyperactivity, aggression, attention 

problems, adaptive skills, adaptability, social skills behavior; and activities of daily life. 

Ms. Hwang and Father reported that Student engaged in many disruptive, impulsive, 

uncontrolled and aggressive behaviors. Both voiced concerns about Student’s 

adaptability and social skills.  

11. Ms. Hwang and Father also completed the Attention Deficit Disorder 

Evaluation Scales-Third Edition (ADDES-3) to evaluate Student’s attention. Ms. Hwang 

rated Student within the low part of the typical range. Ms. Hwang reported, as follows: 

Student failed to direct his attention to teacher directions and was easily distracted; 

Student failed to remain on task and required eye contact in order to listen successfully; 

and Student rushed through assignments with little or no regard for accuracy, quality or 

neatness. Father placed Student in the typical range. Father reported Student was easily 

distracted, had difficulty concentrating, was disorganized with possessions, rushed 

through house tasks, and ignored the consequences of his behavior.  

12. Ms. Balin wrote that while Student continued to struggle with inattentive, 

impulsive, and hyperactive behaviors, he demonstrated the skills and abilities necessary 

to complete academic tasks at or above grade level in all areas. Student’s performance 

in class may have been affected by his attitude and motivation rather than by his ADHD. 

Consequently, Ms. Balin concluded that Student did not meet the eligibility criteria for 

special education services as a student with OHI, but recommended that Student receive 
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support through a 504 Plan of accommodations to facilitate his ability to succeed in the 

general education setting. Ms. Balin’s findings were supported by the evidence. She 

used a wide variety of assessment tools and wrote a comprehensive psychoeducational 

evaluation report. In addition, she properly conducted Student’s assessment. 

JUNE 10, 2010 IEP 

13. On June 10, 2010, the Redondo District conducted an IEP team meeting to 

review the results of Student’s triennial assessments, and to determine if Student 

continued to qualify for special education services. Present at the meeting were Parents, 

Ms. Balin, Ms. Walker, and Ms. Hwang. During the meeting, Ms. Balin advised the team 

that Student’s overall cognitive ability was within the high average range with high 

average verbal ability and superior nonverbal ability. Auditory processing was within the 

average range and visual processing skills were within the superior range. Ms. Balin 

reported that Parent and Ms. Hwang voiced concern about his social/emotional 

development in the areas of hyperactivity, aggression, adaptability, social skills and 

attention. Regarding Student’s academic skills, Ms. Walker reported that Student 

performed above grade level on standardized academic assessments. Ms. Hwang voiced 

her frustration about Student’s attitude in class and lack of effort. After discussion, the 

team agreed that Student’s lack of motivation and interest in learning was the greatest 

factor limiting his academic progress.  

14. Ms. Balin advised the team that although Student’s ADHD adversely 

affected his education particularly in the area of writing, at present Student 

demonstrated skills and abilities to be able to complete academic tasks at or above 

grade level. Because Student’s attitude and motivation rather than his ADHD affected 

his performance in class, Ms. Balin advised the team that Student did not meet the 

eligibility criteria for special education services as a student with OHI. Ms. Balin 

recommended Student receive support through a 504 Plan of accommodations. The IEP 
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team agreed that Student was no longer eligible for special education services and 

Parents consented to the IEP. Parents participated in and agreed to the decision to exit 

Student from special education in the Redondo District. 

15. At hearing, Parents provided credible testimony and confirmed that they 

consented to the June 10, 2010 IEP that exited Student from special education in the 

Redondo District. Because Redondo District team members recommended that Student 

no longer needed special education services, Parents respected these educational 

experts and followed their advice. Parents explained they were happy and relieved that 

Student made progress and no longer required special education services. 

STUDENT TRANSFERS TO DISTRICT 

16. On August 5, 2010, Student enrolled in District’s Hermosa Valley School. 

Parents agreed Student would benefit from the transfer, because Hermosa Valley had a 

sixth grade class and Student would remain in elementary school on a small campus. 

Because Student resided half-time with Father in District, he met the District’s residency 

requirement.  

17. As a part of the enrollment process, Father signed an Affidavit of 

Residency and Residency Agreement, and a Request for Release of Student Records. 

Father filed a form entitled Special Program Information Form (Special Program Form), 

certifying that Student was not currently enrolled in a special program and failing to 

indicate that Student had been tested for a special program. Father also filed a form 

entitled Intent to Enroll 2010-2011 School Year (Intent to Enroll Form) and provided 

District with Student’s birth certificate, an updated immunization record and a report 

card from Redondo District. The Intent to Enroll Form explained that parent must mark 

the Special Program Form if your ‚child participated in any special program‛ and if 

student had an IEP to include the most recent copy. Father failed to provide District with 

a copy of any of Student’s IEPs. Father also failed to disclose to District that when 
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Student attended school in Redondo District he was assessed and found eligible for 

special education services as a student with OHI due to his ADHD; and in June 2010 was 

exited from special education.  

18. On August 5, 2010, District sent Redondo District by facsimile a Request 

for Release of Student Records and District received confirmation that the facsimile was 

successfully sent. By August 25, 2010, Redondo District sent District Student’s 

cumulative file but failed to send his special education records containing his 

assessments and IEP’s. Without Student’s complete file, District was not on notice that 

Student had been eligible for special education services as a Student with OHI due to his 

ADHD from June 2007 until June 2010. 

THE 2010-2011 SCHOOL YEAR 

Academics 

19. Student’s transition to Hermosa Valley was difficult. He struggled 

academically in most of his classes. Student’s GPA was a 0.833 in the first trimester. He 

earned: a ‚D‛ in Math; a ‚C+‛ in Social Studies; an ‚F‛ in Language Arts, Computers, and 

Science; and a ‚C-‚in Physical Education (PE). Second trimester, Student’s GPA improved 

to a 1.55. He earned: a ‚D‛ in Math and PE; a ‚C‛ in Social Studies; a ‚C-‛ in Language 

Arts; a ‚D-‛ in Science; and a ‚C‛ in Music. Student’s final grades for the 2010-2011 

school year, continued to improve with a final GPA of 1.8750. He earned: an ‚F‛ in Math 

and Science; a ‚C-‛ in Social Studies; a ‚C-‛ in Language Arts; a ‚D-‛ in Science; a ‚C‛ in 

PE; a ‚B-‛ in Tech; and an ‚A‛ in Art. 

20. Student’s grades improved because District was proactive. In October 

2010, to assist Student academically and to help improve his grades, school counselor 

Christy Cole (Ms. Cole) was to provide Student weekly academic counseling. However, 

Student was not motivated and he only attended academic counseling on the following 
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dates: October 12, 2010; December, 8, 2010; January 13, 2011; March 17, 2011; April 19, 

2011; and May 24, 2011.  

21. In November 2010, because Principal Tiffany Rudick (Principal Rudick) was 

concerned about Student’s failing grades and his behavior, Ms. Rudick met with Parents 

and Student, Math Teacher Nathaniel Hazard (Mr. Hazard), Social Studies Teacher Jason 

Coleman (Mr. Coleman), Language Arts Teacher Kimberly Taylor (Ms. Taylor), Science 

Teacher Robert Hecker (Mr. Hecker), and Physical Education Teacher Mary Delk (Ms. 

Delk). Students’ teachers voiced their concerns about Student’s disinterest in school, and 

his failure to prepare and to turn in his homework. Some of Student’s teachers reported 

that he failed to meet academic standards. However, Mr. Hecker reported Student was 

doing great on tests and Mr. Coleman complimented Student and reported he was 

doing well in his class. At the November 2010 meeting initiated by Principal Rudick, 

Parents asserted that they informed the group that Student had been diagnosed with 

ADHD. Although the evidence showed that in November 2010 the group discussed 

Student’s disorganization, disinterest in school and inappropriate behavior, it did not 

show that Parents informed the group that Student had been diagnosed with ADHD. 

Both Mr. Coleman and Ms. Taylor testified that Parents failed to discuss Student’s ADHD. 

Their testimony was persuasive. 

22. Student’s teachers proposed Student participate in ‚Success Seekers‛ a 

lunch time program to improve his organization and study skills. Student agreed to try 

harder. At hearing, Mother expressed her appreciation for the teachers’ suggestion that 

Student participate in the Success Seekers program to improve his academic 

performance. Mother enrolled Student in Success Seekers. On February 11, 2011, 

Mother received an e-mail from Ms. Taylor, indicating that Student would be released 

from Success Seekers if he continued to fail to participate and work on his homework 
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assignments. Student failed to keep on task and participate and he was discharged from 

the program after only four sessions. 

Behavior 

23. During his first trimester at Hermosa Valley, Student’s report card reflected 

his poor attitude and behavior. He earned an ‚N‛, needs improvement, in Math, 

Language Arts, Science, and PE. Second trimester, Student’s behavior improved and he 

earned an ‚N‛ in his electives, Music and PE. Third trimester Student’s behavior 

continued to improve but he earned an ‚N‛ in Math and Social Studies. 

24. In October 2010, Student exhibited come minor behavioral problems in PE 

class. On October 11, 2010, Ms. Delk reported Student talked to others and interrupted 

her while she was giving the class directions. Ms. Delk warned Student that she would 

call Parents the next time he disrupted the class. At hearing, no evidence was produced 

that Ms. Delk called Parents to complain about his behavior. 

25. Student had a difficult time in PE all year, specifically, acting ‚out of 

control‛ in lining up and in general game play. When Ms. Delk caught Student in an act 

of defiance or being out of control she would make him ‚own up‛ to his actions. On 

February 17, 2011, in PE class Student scuffled with two students. Student was accused 

of punching one student and pushing another. Ms. Delk asked Student to ‚own up‛ to 

his behavior, but Student denied his involvement.  

26. On March 31, 2011, Mr. Hecker found objects constructed with erasers and 

staples embedded in his classroom ceiling; the objects had 3/8‛ sharp points pointing in 

every direction. Principal Dr. Rita Flynn (Dr. Flynn) suspended Student for one day 
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because the objects he constructed constituted a sharp object that could possibly cause 

bodily harm to others.2 Mother and Dr. Flynn met to discuss Student’s suspension.  

2 Since 1962, Dr. Flynn has been a teacher, a principal, on the faculty of UCLA’s 

Principal Leaders Institute and a leadership consultant in the country of Georgia. She 

received her bachelor’s degree at University of California San Diego and her doctorate 

from University of Southern California. Dr. Flynn was recruited from retirement to serve 

as the Interim Principal at Hermosa Valley. 

27. Mother testified that during their meeting she informed Dr. Flynn that 

Student was bored, because of his ADHD. According to Mother, Dr. Flynn responded 

that she would refer Student for school counseling and suggested that Mother seek 

private counseling for Student. However, Mother’s assertion that she informed Dr. Flynn 

that Student had ADHD was not persuasive. Dr. Flynn provided persuasive testimony 

that although the information might be helpful she would not mix up a medical 

diagnosis with discipline. In addition, Dr. Flynn persuasively testified that if Mother 

mentioned that Student had ADHD, it was her practice to ask for a doctor’s letter to 

verify the diagnosis.  

28. On May 2, 2011, Mr. Hazard observed that during an in-class project using 

paper clips, Student constructed a ‚dart,‛ a broken paper clip for the dart with a straw 

wrapper for the tail section. When confronted by Mr. Hazard, Student denied 

constructing the ‚dart.‛ Student was not disciplined 

29. During the 2010-2011 school year, Student’s disciplinary record showed 

only one incident where he was suspended for one day. 

30. At hearing, Social Studies Teacher Mr. Coleman, opined that Student’s 

behavior in PE class was typical middle school behavior and would not warrant a referral 

for assessments for special education. After he was asked to review all notations in 
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Student’s Power School Log,3 Mr. Coleman concluded that Student’s behavior was not 

sufficient to warrant an evaluation for special education. At hearing, after reviewing the 

notations, Language Arts Teacher Ms. Taylor agreed that Student’s behavior was not 

sufficient to warrant an evaluation for special education services in sixth grade.  

3District used a ‚Power School Log‛ to list by date student discipline, behavior 

issues and academic concerns.  

THE 2011-2012 SCHOOL YEAR 

31. Student returned to District for the 2011-2012 school year. On September 

13, 2011, Ms. Cole met with Student to offer a few weeks of continued academic 

counseling focused on helping him with organization and to improve his study skills. On 

September 20, 2011, Ms. Cole met with Student for academic counseling. During her 

meeting with Student, she observed his demeanor was different. He was withdrawn, and 

appeared angry and depressed. By September 27, 2011, Ms. Cole called Parents to 

discuss Student’s behavior and received consent to provide Student with individual 

counseling. Both Parents were concerned about Student’s grades. Mother voiced her 

concern about Student’s emotional well-being. On October 6, 2011, Ms. Cole held an 

individual counseling meeting with Student. After her meeting with Student, she too was 

concerned about Student’s emotional well-being. 

32. At hearing Mr. Coleman opined that the 2011-2012 school year would be 

a difficult year for Student if interventions were not in place. In early September, Mr. 

Coleman observed Student was withdrawn: he wore a hood in class, shrugged his 

shoulders, and rolled his eyes. Mr. Coleman explained that he was concerned because 

Student would not socialize with other students.  

33. In late September and early October 2011, Student was scheduled to serve 

several detentions. No evidence was presented regarding the reason for Student’s initial 
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detention. When Student lied about being kept over by a teacher, he was issued another 

detention. Student failed to show up for his assigned detention on October 4, 2012 and 

because Student failed to appear, he was assigned detention for October 6, 2011 and 

October 10, 2011. On October 6, 2011 Student was late again and failed to show up 

twice to other assigned detentions. Student was issued another detention order.  

34. On October 11, 2011, Acting Principal Butcher suspended Student for five 

days because Student carried an air-soft pistol and plastic BBs on campus. The weapon 

was loaded with plastic BBs. Because the orange safety seal was missing, the pistol 

looked like an eight inch authentic firearm. Student consented to Betsy Dear searching 

his back pack, where she found a screw driver, an empty pack of cigarettes, nail polish 

remover, a spool of thread and BBs for the air-soft pistol. Student was given a Student 

Suspension Notice, notifying him that he was suspended for five days commencing 

October 12, 2011.  

35. On October 12, 2011, Parents and Student met with Ms. Cole to discuss 

her concerns about Student’s emotional state. Parents confirmed Student was seeing a 

private therapist. Parents confided that Student was diagnosed with ADHD and at one 

time had been on medication. Ms. Cole recommended that Student get back into 

counseling, and provided Parents information about community resources. This was the 

first time Parents discussed Student’s ADHD with District staff.  

36. On October 16, 2011, Student sent a letter to Superintendent Bruce Newlin 

(Superintendent Newlin) and Principal Patricia Escalante4 to apologize for his behavior 

and to reassure them that he would take steps to improve his behavior. On October 19, 

                                                 
4 Currently, Patricia Escalante is the Superintendent and Director of Special 

Education. During the 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 school years, she was the Principal of 

Hermosa Valley School. 
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2011, Father met with Superintendent Newlin and Principal Escalante to inform them 

that Student suffered from ADHD and had an IEP when he attended school in the 

Redondo District. Superintendent Newlin informed Father that if Student’s conduct was 

due to his ADHD, the Board would consider that as mitigation at Student’s expulsion 

hearing. 

DISTRICT’S DECISION TO RECOMMEND STUDENT’S EXPULSION 

37. On October 19, 2011, District notified Parents of its decision to 

recommend to the superintendent the expulsion of Student from District.  

38. On October 27, 2011, Mother sent District a letter from Student’s 

Psychiatrist Dr. Elizabeth Cowart (Dr. Cowart) and a letter from Neuropsychologist Gary 

J. Schummer, Ph.D. (Dr. Schummer) confirming Student’s ADHD diagnosis. Dr. Cowart 

wrote she treated Student from June 2008 through January 2010 for ADHD and because 

none of the medications prescribed provided substantial improvement, Parents decided 

to discontinue Student’s medication. In Dr. Cowart’s recent examination, she found 

Student continued to meet criteria for ADHD with symptoms including inattention, lack 

of follow through, poor organizational skills and impulsivity. She recommended a 

medication trial to target symptoms.  

39. Dr. Schummer’s letter stated that on February 15, 2011, he began to 

evaluate Student for impairments related to attention and cognition. On March 18, 

2011, he performed a neuroimaging assessment and confirmed Student met the 

diagnostic criteria for ADHD. Dr. Schummer recommended District re-evaluate Student 

for an IEP based on Student’s poor academic performance as well as his ADHD. He 

asked Superintendent Newlin to take into consideration Student’s disability during 

Student’s expulsion hearing.  

40. In a November 3, 2011 letter, Parents requested District evaluate Student 

to determine if Student’s actions on October 11, 2011, related to the air-soft pistol were 
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a direct result of his ADHD. They asserted that District failed under its child find 

obligation to search out and assess Student; and it failed to review Student’s school 

records demonstrating that Student had been eligible for special education services 

under the category of OHI until June 2010 when he was exited. 

41. On November 3, 2011, District responded quickly and sent Parents an 

assessment plan. On November 8, 2011, Parents signed the plan and returned it to 

District. 

42. On November 9, 2011, Parents requested a 30-day extension on the 

expulsion hearing to give them an opportunity to hire an attorney and prepare. On 

November 16, 2011, District wrote to Carol Behrens, Student’s advocate, stating it 

determined that Student’s suspension was to be extended through the date of the 

expulsion hearing. This decision was based on the determination that Student’s 

presence at a District school or alternative school placement would cause a danger to 

persons or property and a threat of disrupting the instructional process. Thus, District 

refused to offer Student placement in any school setting. 

43. During the months of October, November and December, Student’s 

education consisted of assignments Parents picked up from school for Student to 

complete. At hearing, Parents credibly expressed their concern about Student’s 

education because District failed to provide direct instruction and Student was to 

continue on home study until his December 14, 2011 expulsion hearing. Because Parents 

worked, Student was at home with no supervision. Parents confirmed, and there was no 

evidence to the contrary, that Student made little progress on his assignments.  

STUDENT’S EXPULSION 

44. On December 14, 2011, District’s Board of Trustees (the Board) held an 

expulsion hearing to determine if Student should be expelled from school. On 

December 16, 2011, the Board issued a decision ordering Student’s expulsion from the 
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District until March 16, 2011, the remainder of the trimester. Student was referred to the 

Opportunities for Learning Charter, a Community Day School, (Opportunities for 

Learning) to receive his educational program for the duration of the expulsion. The 

Board ordered Student to complete a rehabilitation plan prior to his readmission. The 

plan required that Student: 1) improve his academic performance (maintain a grade 

point average of 2.5); 2) continue with his current counseling; 3) submit progress reports 

on the 15th of each month; and 4) enroll and attend the alternative educational 

placement ordered by the Board.  

45. Father visited Opportunities for Learning. At hearing, he described the 

classroom as one room with a bunch of tables. The educational program was 

independent study, where Student was required to attend school for only two hours a 

week to turn in assignments and take tests. Father opined that the Opportunities for 

Learning program was inappropriate because its structure was similar to Student’s home 

study program, where Student failed to make progress. Father credibly testified that 

Student required a full day of direct education, in a classroom with a teacher. Father 

feared if Student attended Opportunities for Learning, he would lose a whole year of 

education. Father’s concerns were supported by the evidence.  

46. Because Parents were concerned about District’s placement offer, they 

visited nonpublic schools (NPSs) to find an appropriate program for Student. They 

visited the Renaissance School, Fusion, and Westview School. Parents were impressed 

with Westview’s program because it focused on students with ADHD. Parents enrolled 

Student and planned to ask District for reimbursement.   

PARENTS’ INTENT TO PRIVATELY PLACE STUDENT 

47. By letter dated December 16, 2011, Parents informed District of their 

intent to privately place Student at the Westview School on or after January 3, 2012. 

Although Parents acknowledged that Student was currently undergoing assessments by 
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District to determine his eligibility for special education and related services, they 

indicated that placement at Westview was necessary because District failed to provide 

the support and services Student needed. Parents also stated that they would seek 

reimbursement for his placement.  

48. On December 22, 2011, District denied Student’s request for 

reimbursement. District wrote although Student was a general education student, it was 

providing prior written notice regarding his unilateral private school placement. District 

asserted Parents failed to inform it that Student was in special education at Redondo 

District or that Student required special education services. District was in the process of 

assessing Student and had scheduled an IEP for Student on January 13, 2012. If the 

team determined Student was eligible for special education, it would develop an IEP for 

him that would include placement and related services deemed necessary to provide 

Student with a FAPE. District also based its denial on Student’s education record and 

school performance. 

STUDENT’S PSYCHOEDUCATIONAL ASSESSMENT AND JANUARY 8, 2012 REPORT 

49. From November 15, 2011 through December 2, 2011, School Psychologist 

Denise Vellutini-Stern (Ms. Vellutini-Stern), Resource Specialist Julie Taylor (Ms. Taylor), 

and Speech and Language Pathologist Andrea Horowitz (Ms. Horowitz) conducted an 

assessment of Student to determine whether Student was eligible for special education 

and related services. Ms. Vellutini-Stern prepared a psychoeducational report dated 

January 8, 2012, containing the results of the assessments and her recommendations for 

Student’s educational program. The parties stipulated that the assessments performed 

by Ms. Vellutini-Stern on November 15, 2011, December 1, 2011 and December 2, 2011, 

by Ms. Horowitz on December 5, 2011 and December 7, 2011, by Ms. Taylor on 

December 15, 2011 and the recommendations in the psychoeducational report, were 

appropriate. 
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50. Ms. Horowitz, who assessed Student’s speech and language on December 

5, 2011 and December 7, 2011, provided testimony at hearing. Ms. Horowitz is a speech 

and language pathologist, employed by the Los Angeles County Office and Education. 

Ms. Horowitz’s speech and language assessment of Student was comprehensive. She 

based her results on a review of records, observations, discussions with Parents and her 

administration of a variety of assessment instruments. When Ms. Horowitz observed 

Student during the administration of the assessments, she found Student friendly, 

attentive, cooperative, and respectful. Student readily participated in conversation, 

listened attentively; followed directions used appropriate eye contact, remained on 

topic, responded accurately to questions and remained focused on all tasks without 

prompting. On both formal and informal tasks, Student inconsistently formulated 

concise, meaningful sentences containing age-appropriate vocabulary.  

51. Ms. Horowitz selected assessment tools that would measure Student’s oral 

language knowledge, articulation, and pragmatics. She administered the Test of 

Auditory Processing Skills (TAPS) to assess Student’s auditory skills, use and 

understanding of language commonly utilized in academic and everyday activities. 

Student scored in the average range on the TAPS demonstrating Student had no deficit 

in this area. 

52. Ms. Horowitz administered the Clinical Evaluation of Language 

Fundamentals-4th Edition (CELF-4) to assess Student’s language ability. If a language 

disorder was identified further tests would be administered to determine the nature of 

the disorder and language strengths and weaknesses. She also administered the CELF-4 

Observational Rating Scale and Pragmatics Profile. Student scored in the average range 

on all subtests except he scored in the low average range, 16th percentile, on the 

Formulated Sentences subtest. The Formulated Sentences subtest assesses a student’s 

ability to formulate compound and complex sentences. Student exhibited difficulty 
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forming concise and meaningful sentences and failed to use contextual clues. Student 

also omitted significant details, failed to include age appropriate vocabulary words, and 

told an incomplete story. The CELF observational Rating Scale was completed by 

teachers Mr. Coleman and Carole Poertner and his Parents. Three out of four raters 

reported that Student had difficulties in: paying attention; asking for help when needed; 

interpreting facial expression, gestures and body language; reading social situations; 

and interacting appropriately with others. Thus, Ms. Horowitz concluded pragmatic 

language was an area of need.  

53. Ms. Horowitz also administered the Test of Pragmatic Language-2nd 

Edition (TOPL-2) to assess Student’s ability to use pragmatic language. Student provided 

a literal response to situations, and failed to analyze the situation and determine the 

underlying meaning. Student demonstrated weakness in the following areas: attending 

to the physical context of a situation; tailoring messages to different audiences; turn 

taking; changing the topic; introducing and maintaining a topic; topic content; repairing 

communication breakdowns; requesting clarification of information; and perspective 

taking and adjusting communication. Student’s weakness in these areas may impact 

Student’s ability to interact socially in real-life situations  

54. Based on standardized tests and her observations of Student, Ms. 

Horowitz concluded that Student failed to meet the eligibility for special education 

services under the category of speech and language impairment (SLI). However, she 

found that Student would benefit from speech and language services to address his 

deficits in pragmatic language that may impact his ability to access his education. 

Horowitz recommended that the IEP team discuss Student’s assessments and her 

recommendations to help determine appropriate services. Ms. Horowitz’s findings and 

recommendations were supported by the evidence. 
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55. Ms. Vellutini-Stern reviewed Student’s records including his previous 

assessments and interviewed Parents in order to develop Student’s health and 

developmental history and reviewed Student’s academic progress. Ms. Vellutini-Stern 

also reviewed Student’s grades for the 2010-2011 school year and current grades. She 

found that Student’s final grades for the 2010-2011 school year warranted continued 

academic counseling because he continued to be at risk for having failing grades. 

Student failed Mathematics and Science. His current grades were impacted by his failure 

to complete his work. Student’s California Standards Tests in English Language Arts and 

Math declined from Advanced in 2009 to Basic in 2011. 

56. Ms. Vellutini-Stern completed her written report on January 8, 2012. Ms. 

Vellutini-Stern conducted the following battery of tests: Wechsler Intelligence Scale for 

Children-IV (WISC-IV); Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual –Motor Integration 

(VMI); Wide Range Assessment of Memory and Learning-2 (WRAML-2); NEPSY-II; 

Conner’s Rating Scale-Third Edition: Parent and Teacher Long Version; Behavior 

Assessment System for Children; Second Edition (BASC-2); Woodcock-Johnson III Tests 

of Achievement (WJ-III); and Review of School Records. 

57. The assessment results, set forth in Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s January 8, 2012 

report, demonstrated that Student’s general cognitive ability, as estimated by the WISC-

IV, was in the high average range with a Full Scale IQ (FSIQ) of 119. Regarding Student’s 

cognitive ability, her findings were consistent with Ms. Balin’s 2010 findings. Student’s 

perceptual reasoning and organization was in the very superior range and his verbal 

comprehension was in the high average range. Student’s general working memory was 

in the average range, and his general processing speed was in the average range. His 

general ability index was in the superior range. Ms. Vellutini-Stern found Student was 

functioning within the superior range of cognition on his standardized measure of 

intellectual ability. Student demonstrated strengths in visual analysis and synthesis and 
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visual reasoning and weaknesses in the areas of auditory short-term memory, visual 

short-term memory and visual motor integration. Ms. Vellutini-Stern performed further 

assessments in Student’s areas of weakness and an in-depth assessment in the areas of 

attention, impulsivity, and social/emotional status. 

58. Ms. Vellutini-Stern administered the visual-motor integration battery of 

the VMI. Because Student performed in the average range, she found no areas of 

concern in visual-motor processing skills. Ms. Vellutini-Stern administered the WRAML-2 

to measure Student’s visual memory and learning, and his auditory memory and 

learning. Student performed in the average to superior range on all subtests. 

59. Ms. Vellutini-Stern administered the NEPSY-II to assess Student’s 

neuropsychological development in the areas of Attention and Executive Functioning. 

Student performed in the expected to above expected level on all tasks with the 

exception of two subtests: Response Set Total Correct and Inhibition Inhibition 

Combined. Ms. Vellutini-Stern opined that Student’s low scores indicated Student had 

some difficulty sustaining attention during auditory tasks that were of little interest to 

him and he had difficulty inhibiting automatic responses and made careless mistakes.  

60. Ms. Vellutini-Stern administered the Conner’s Rating Scale-Third Edition, 

designed to characterize behaviors of a student and compare them to a normative 

sample. Parents and three of Student’s teachers completed the behavior inventory. Ms. 

Vellutini-Stern found that all of the respondents’ ratings were valid and the consistency 

of the ratings suggested that Student’s behaviors are highly problematic across all 

environments. As rated by Parents, Student received his most significant score in the 

area of aggression, contributing to an extremely elevated conduct disorder index score. 

As rated by Student’s teachers, Student received elevated or very elevated scores in the 

areas of executive functioning and aggression. In addition, two of Student’s three 

teachers identified him as elevated or very elevated in the area of inattention. Student’s 
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teachers also scored him as elevated to very elevated in the areas of the DSM-IV 

Conduct and Oppositional Defiant Disorders. 

61. Student, Parents, and three of Student’s teachers completed the BASC-2, a 

multidimensional system used to evaluate behavior and social/emotional development. 

Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s report stated that the BASC-2 showed that Student scored himself 

in the ‚clinically significant‛ range in somatization and in the ‚at risk‛ range in relations 

with Parents. Parents scored Student in the ‚clinically significant‛ range in the areas of 

externalizing problems, and conduct problems; Mother scored Student in the ‚clinically 

significant‛ range in hyperactivity, aggression, atypicality, behavioral symptoms index, 

and activities of daily life. Parents scored Student as ‚at risk‛ for attention problems; 

Mother scored Student ‚at risk‛ for social skills and adaptive skills composite; and Father 

scored Student ‚at risk‛ in the areas of hyperactivity, aggression, behavioral symptoms 

index, adaptive skills, and activities of daily life.  

62. Regarding Parents’ ‚clinically significant‛ score in the externalizing 

problems composite, Ms. Vellutini-Stern found that this composite was characterized by 

disruptive behavior problems such as aggression, hyperactivity and delinquency. She 

opined such students come to the attention of teachers because they disrupt activities 

and are unresponsive to adult direction.  

63. Student’s teachers Ms. Poertner, Mr. Coleman and Ms. Gonzalez 

completed the BASC-2. Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s report stated that the BASC-2 showed that 

Mr. Coleman and Ms. Gonzalez scored Student in the ‚clinically significant‛ range in 

conduct problems; and Mr. Coleman scored Student in ‚clinically significant‛ range in 

attention and withdrawal. All three teachers scored Student in the ‚at risk‛ range in 

externalizing problems composite consisting of the clinical scales of hyperactivity, 

aggression, and conduct problems. Ms. Vellutini-Stern wrote that the conduct problem 

scale measures socially deviant and disruptive behaviors that are characteristic of the 
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DSM-IV category of conduct disorder. All teachers scored Student in the ‚at risk‛ range 

in the areas in school problems index composite consisting of attention and learning 

problems. Ms. Vellutini-Stern found that this composite signified that teacher perceived 

Student behaviors were very likely to interfere with academic achievement.  

64. Ms. Vellutini-Stern concluded that based on the results of the BASC-2, the 

Conner’s Rating Scale, the Behavior survey, review of records, as well as anecdotal input 

from Parents and teachers, Student displayed behaviors pervasive across environments 

that were maladaptive in nature and often were in violation of rules and/or the rights of 

others. Inattention was also identified across environments and Student demonstrated 

borderline scores on the NEPSY-II in attention/executive functioning subtests that 

measure inhibitory and sustained attention components.  

65. Ms. Taylor administered the WJ-III, a test that measured Student’s ability in 

academic areas math, reading and written language. Student performed at or above the 

instructional range for his grade when compared to other seventh graders.  

66. Ms. Vellutini-Stern used a wide variety of assessment tools and wrote a 

comprehensive psychoeducational evaluation report. She found that Student had a 

diagnosis of ADHD and demonstrated inattentive behaviors in the home and school 

environment but less so in a one-to-one environment. Behaviors described by rating 

form respondents as well as anecdotal information provided by Parents and teachers 

suggested that Student’s ADHD behaviors may have had a negative impact on his 

academic progress. Consequently, Ms. Vellutini-Stern found that Student met eligibility 

for special education services under the classification of OHI. She recommended that the 

IEP team discuss this eligibility and whether the level of need warranted special 

education services. Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s recommendation was supported by the 

evidence. 
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67. Ms. Vellutini-Stern recommended a variety of interventions, 

accommodations, modifications and services to help Student access his education. Her 

recommendations were as follows: 1) present information both visually and verbally; 2) 

complete hands-on projects as an alternative way to demonstrate mastery of curricular 

standards; 3) test Student for concept mastery using recognition memory when 

possible; 4) encourage to edit/check his work/tests prior to handing in assignments; 5) 

reinforce expectations across environments; 6) continue school based counseling; and 7) 

collaborate school based counseling with community based mental health providers to 

provide consistency across settings and providers. She opined that prior to 2008, Dr. 

Cowart diagnosed Student with ADHD and if Student had it in 2009, he continued to 

have it in 2011. Student’s ADHD was treatable and behavioral strategies could have 

helped Student with his academics and behavior. Because of Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s 

education, experience, and her thorough evaluation, her recommendations were 

persuasive. 

JANUARY 13, 2012 IEP 

68. On January 13, 2012, the District conducted an IEP team meeting to review

the results of Student’s psychoeducational assessment, and to determine whether 

Student qualified for special education services. Present at the meeting were Parents, 

Director of Special Education Jennifer Camacho (Ms. Camacho), Ms. Vellutini-Stern, Ms. 

Taylor, Mr. Coleman, Ms. Horowitz, Advocate Bobbie Westil (Ms. Westil) and District’s 

Attorney Christopher Fernandes (Mr. Fernandes). During the meeting, Ms. Vellutini-Stern 

presented Student’s psychoeducational assessment. She advised the team that Student’s 

cognitive ability was in the superior range with significantly greater nonverbal than 

verbal abilities. His visual processing skills were within the average range and his verbal 

and visual memory abilities were in the average to superior range.  
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69. Ms. Vellutini-Stern reported that Student’s borderline scores on the 

NEPSY-II subtests in Response Set Total Correct and Inhibition Combined demonstrated 

Student’s difficulty in inhibiting automatic responses and in sustaining attention to 

auditory tasks. Based on the BASC-2, the Conners-3 rating scales as well as Parent and 

teacher input, Student’s inattentive behavior was in the extremely elevated range across 

home and school environments. In an individual setting Student was able to sustain his 

attention but with additional distractions in a classroom sustained attention was an 

observable challenge. Ms. Vellutini-Stern explained Student displayed behaviors that 

were pervasive, maladaptive in nature, and often in violation of the rules and/or rights of 

others.  

70. Student’s art teacher shared that Student demonstrated a lot of coping 

behavior such as putting his head down. Other students refused to work with him 

because he did not do his part. Student’s math and language arts teachers reported that 

while Student appeared to be checked out, he was still able to answer questions. Parent 

reported that Student had difficulty with following multiple steps.  

71. Ms. Horowitz presented her speech and language assessment. She advised 

the team that Student’s articulation, voice and fluency, expressive and receptive 

language skills were within normal limits for his age and gender. Although Student 

displayed appropriate conversational skills, pragmatics was an area of need. Student 

demonstrated difficulties in paying attention, asking for help when needed, interpreting 

and understanding facial expressions, gesture and body language, reading social 

situations accurately, and interacting appropriately with others. Ms. Horowitz 

recommended speech and language services to address pragmatic skills and to improve 

his ability to interact socially with others.  

72. Ms. Taylor presented Student’s academic assessment results. She shared 

that Student was a delight to work with and he completed the academic assessment in 
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only 90-minutes. When compared to other students of his age, Student’s academic skills 

and his ability to apply those skills were both in the average range. Student’s 

performance in broad reading, mathematics and math calculations was in the high 

average range.  

73. The IEP team discussed Student’s poor academic performance and the 

decline in Student’s STAR scores. Parents shared that Student’s move to a multi-

classroom middle school environment had a negative effect on Student. The team 

discussed that Student may have been effected because he was exited from special 

education and moved to a new district. Ms. Westil reported since Student arrived at 

District in September 2010, he struggled with his academic subjects.  

74. Parent reported to the IEP team that at a November 2010 parent teacher 

conference she informed Student’s teachers and the principal that Student was 

diagnosed with ADHD. At that time District referred Student to ‚Success Seekers,‛ a 

lunchtime group for academic help. Parent shared that Student was asked to leave the 

lunchtime group because he failed to attend some meetings and was not engaged in 

the program. Parent believed ‚Success Seekers‛ was similar to an independent study 

and Student would not benefit from that type of program.  

75. Based on standardized tests, Parents, teachers, and Student input as well 

as input from Dr. Cowart, Psychotherapist Jon Kramer, a review of Student’s records and 

observations, the IEP team found that Student met the criteria for special education 

services under the eligibility of OHI. Student’s ADHD behaviors had a negative impact 

on his academic progress. Although the IEP team agreed that Student failed to meet the 

eligibility for special education services under the category of SLI, he demonstrated 

deficits in the area of pragmatic language. The team agreed that Student required 

speech and language services. Ms. Vellutini-Stern proposed a Functional Behavior 
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Assessment if Student’s behaviors failed to respond to the behavioral goals and 

accommodations. 

76. The IEP team proposed seven goals in the following areas: 1) two goals to 

address pragmatic language; 2) a behavior goal to address locus of control; 3) a 

behavior goal to address aggressive behaviors; 4) a goal to address work completion; 5) 

a goal to address time management; and 6) a goal to address class preparation. The 

team approved these goals and requested that Ms. Taylor draft an additional goal to 

address organizational skills and managing school materials. These goals addressed 

Student’s needs and were adopted by the IEP team.  

77. At hearing, Ms. Vellutini-Stern described the focus of Student’s behavior 

goals and how it was necessary for the goals to be implemented in a typical classroom 

environment. The first goal focused on Student taking responsibility for his behavior. To 

help Student meet this behavior goal by January 2013, she proposed two individual 

counseling sessions a week to work on different hypothetical situations. Student’s 

second behavior goal addressed his aggressive behavior and proposed that by January 

2013 Student would respond to teacher directive. To help Student meet this goal, 

Student’s counselor would observe him in class to collect data from her classroom 

observations. Ms. Vellutini-Stern opined that Student’s goals should be implemented in 

a classroom and could not be implemented at a program such as Opportunities for 

Learning because Student was only required to attend two hours a week, and there was 

no special education teacher to implement Student’s goals. 

78. The IEP team discussed services and agreed that the least restrictive 

placement was in a general education classroom with language and speech services, 

counseling, RSP and accommodations. Regarding accommodations and modifications 

the team agreed to provide Student: a daily communication log/reminder binder; 

preferential seating; cues and prompts to stay on task; presentation of one task at a 
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time; and use the RSP room as a flexible setting. The IEP team agreed to the following 

services: group specialized academic instruction 264-minutes per week; group language 

and speech therapy 30-minutes per week; and individual counseling 30-minutes twice 

per week. 

79. The IEP team discussed Student’s placement and disagreed about what 

placement would be appropriate while Student was expelled. Parents requested that 

District offer to fund Student’s current placement at Westview because Student started 

the program on January 3, 2012 and was doing well. Student complained that District’s 

proposal involved too many transitions. As proposed by District, Student would move 

from Westview to Opportunities for Learning and then in March at the end of the 

expulsion period he would move back to a District school. At the meeting, District 

asserted that it continued to offer Student Opportunities for Learning, and that 

placement options would be reviewed and proposed by District before January 24, 2012, 

the end of the 60-day period. The January 13, 2012 IEP offer did not contain any offer of 

placement during expulsion, but District wrote that it would propose a placement 

before January 24, 2012. Because District failed to make a concrete written offer of 

placement during expulsion, the IEP team was not able to discuss how and where 

Student’s goals, accommodations, and services were to be implemented during the 

period of Student’s expulsion. 

DISTRICT’S PLACEMENT OFFER 

80. At hearing, Parents explained their opinion that District’s offer of 

placement at Opportunities for Learning was not appropriate. Student required more 

than two hours of direct teaching a week as demonstrated by his failure to make 

educational progress while he was on home study October 11, 2011 through December 

14, 2011. Parents also believed Opportunities for Learning was inappropriate because 

Accessibility modified document



29 

Student would not be taught by a special education teacher, necessary to monitor 

progress towards meeting his goals and to review his accommodations.  

81. Ms. Camacho, District Director of Special Education, testified at the 

hearing. She earned a bachelor of arts in liberal studies at Long Beach State and a 

master’s degree in English from Alliant University. She holds an administrative credential 

and a multiple subject teaching credential. As the Director of Special Education her 

duties included acting as the administrator at IEPs and identifying and serving 

individuals with exceptional needs. At hearing, she opined while Opportunities for 

Learning was an appropriate placement for a general education expelled student, it was 

inappropriate for a special education student. 

82. District did not propose an alternative placement to Parents in writing 

before January 24, 2012, the end of the 60-day period.  

83. On February 6, 2012, District received a letter from Parents. Parents wrote 

that because no signature page was provided to the January 13, 2012 IEP, this letter 

addressed their disagreement, comments and concerns regarding the IEP. Parents 

requested that District offer a placement where Student’s IEP could be implemented 

while Student was expelled to provide Student a FAPE. Parents agreed with the IEP 

team’s offer and time and frequency of DIS services in specialized academic instruction, 

group speech and language, and counseling. Parents expressed that District’s offered 

placement, Opportunities for Learning, was inappropriate.  

84. On February 6, 2012, District responded to Parents’ letter, and addressed 

the issue of Student’s placement during his expulsion. District continued to offer 

Opportunities for Learning, and in addition it offered to refer Student to Beach Cities 

Learning Center (Beach Cities) an NPS, as an alternative placement during his expulsion. 

District provided Student Beach Cities’ location, identified the program director and his 
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contact information. Although Parents failed to respond in writing to District’s letter, 

they followed up on District’s placement offer. 

85. At hearing, Father testified that he toured Beach Cities, he liked the

program and observed other Student’s with ADHD. However, when Father met with 

Director Dan Campbell (Mr. Campbell) he was informed that the program was full and 

Mr. Campbell did not have a placement for Student. Father’s testimony was persuasive. 

Because Parents had confirmed Beach Cities was full, Mother did not call Mr. Campbell 

and arrange a tour.  

86. At hearing, Ms. Camacho confirmed that Father met with Mr. Campbell,

Father had a positive visit, and that the program was full. Specifically, Mr. Campbell had 

informed Ms. Camacho that although he would accept Student, Mr. Campbell was not 

able to provide a start date at the time until a student who completed the Beach Cities 

program returned to the community. Ms. Camacho described Beach Cities as an NPS 

with small classes, and students similar to Student. Although Student would only be at 

Beach Cities until March 16, 2012, she opined that the program would benefit Student.  

87. On February 28, 2012, District wrote a detailed response to Parents’

February 5, 2012 letter regarding the January 13, 2012 IEP. District stated that its letter 

constituted prior written notice of its disagreement and refusal to fund and/or 

reimburse Parents for any privately obtained placement or services. District asserted that 

it continued to stand ready and willing to implement Student's IEP if he was enrolled at 

Opportunities for Learning or Beach Cities. If Student was not enrolled, District offered 

to provide Student with speech and language and counseling services at the Southwest 

SELPA office. District failed to offer Student a flexible schedule for service that would 

work with his school day. District asserted that the only times available were Mondays 

from 9:30 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. for speech and counseling on Mondays and Thursdays from 

3:00 p.m. to 3:30 p.m.  
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88. Ms. Camacho explained that Student’s situation was unusual. He was 

assessed at the SELPA office because he was not allowed on campus and he was found 

eligible for special education services after his expulsion. She opined that Student was 

not entitled to special education services, academic instruction, speech and language 

and counseling, during his expulsion. However, on February 28, 2012, District offered to 

deliver those services to Student at the SELPA office, but Parents did not make Student 

available.  

WESTVIEW PLACEMENT 

89. Student attended Westview School from January 3, 2010 through April 

2012, for a total of 68 days. Westview is an NPS offering an appropriate program to 

student’s with ADHD. Parents testified that Student made progress at Westview. For the 

semester ending February 2, 2012, Student earned: a ‚B‛ in Social Studies, a ‚B‛ in 

English, a ‚B‛ in Science, and a ‚B‛ in PE, an ‚A‛ in Art and an ‚Incomplete‛ in Math. 

Student’s ‚Incomplete‛ in Math was due to his failure to complete a test. Student’s good 

grades reflected the progress he made while attending Westview.  

90. Parents paid Westview by check a total of $14,565.60 for Student’s 

placement and transportation to Westview as follows: 1) 68 days tuition at $183.33 for a 

total of $12,466.44; and 2) 64 days transportation at $33.32 for a total of $2099.16. 

Student attended Westview as follows: 20 days in January; 18 days in February; 21 days 

in March; and 9 days in April. Westview provided Student transportation as follows: 20 

days in January; 18 days in February; 21 days in March; and 4 days in April. 

DISTRICT PROCEDURES AND POLICIES 

91. District advised parents of its child find policy in an Annual Notification of 

Parent or Guardian’ Rights and Responsibilities (Annual Notification), which it sent to 

students’ families at the beginning of each academic year. Superintendent Escalante 
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methodically described District’s procedure. Specifically, in 2010-2011 and again in 

2011-2012 Parents were sent the Annual Notification, that included information about: 

1) Child Find, District’s duty to establish written policies and procedure to find students 

with disabilities; and 2) Section 504 ‚(29 USC794, 34 C.F.R. 104.32)‛ a District’s duty to 

identify and evaluate students with disabilities and provide them with services. Ms. 

Camacho convincingly testified that District staff and teachers were trained in identifying 

students who may need special education services. Both Ms. Taylor and Ms. Camacho 

testified that the District employed numerous general education interventions, prior to 

assessing a student for special education services. 

92. At hearing Ms. Camacho explained the procedure for enrolling Student 

into District. Student’s Redondo District records were sent to District. Student’s records 

failed to include information that Student had been in special education. If Parents had 

checked a box indicating that Student was in a special education program or that he 

had been assessed for special education she would have requested Redondo District to 

send his IEPs and psychoeducational assessment, asked Parents for copies, and passed 

these records to a case manager to handle the IEP. She explained that Parents failed to 

alert District to Student’s special education needs and Redondo District failed to send 

District Student’s special education file. If District reviewed all of Student’s records for 

the 2010-2011 school year and interviewed his teachers, Ms. Camacho opined District 

would not have any reason to assess Student for special education services. Similarly, 

Ms. Camacho opined that the air gun incident alone also would not generally have 

triggered a District referral to assess Student for special education. 
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LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

BURDEN OF PROOF 

1. The Petitioner in a special education due process hearing has the burden 

to prove his or her contentions at the hearing. (Schaffer v. Weast (2005) 546 U.S. 49, 56-

62 [126 S.Ct. 528].) As the petitioning party, Student has the burden of proof on all 

issues. 

CONTENTIONS 

2. In Issue One, Student contends that District failed to meet its child find 

obligation, beginning in September 2010 through November 3, 2011, because it had 

reason to suspect Student had a disability due to his failing grades, previously 

diagnosed ADHD, lack of motivation, and behavior. Student further contends that 

District had notice of Student’s diagnosis of ADHD when Parents informed teachers in 

November 2010 and Dr. Flynn in March 2011 which, in conjunction with Student’s 

behavioral, social, and academic difficulties, placed District on notice that it should 

assess Student for special education services. Moreover, Student contends that by 

September 2011 in his seventh grade year (2011-2012), Student continued to display 

disruptive and aggressive behavior, as well as continued academic difficulties and in 

September, Student’s teachers and academic counselor observed Student to be 

withdrawn, angry and depressed. According to Student, these behaviors should have 

alerted District to assess Student and find him eligible for special education services 

prior to November 3, 2011. In Issue Two, Student contends District deprived him of a 

FAPE because it failed to provide him with an appropriate placement and services, from 

September 2010 through January 12, 2012. In Issue Three, Student contends that District 

failed to offer and provide Student with a FAPE beginning January 13, 2012, the date of 

the first IEP team meeting in District, by: 1) not providing for meaningful parent 
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participation in the decision making process; 2) not inviting and including anyone from 

Westview School; 3) not addressing how Student’s services, accommodations and goals 

would be implemented during Student’s expulsion; and, 4) not offering an appropriate 

placement. Student seeks reimbursement for expenses related to his placement at 

Westview.  

3. District contends that it met its general and specific child find obligations. 

Specifically, District argues Parent was well aware of their special education rights 

because from June 2007 through June 2010, Student was eligible for special education 

as a Student with OHI and each year Parents participated in Student’s IEPs and they 

received a copy of the Procedural Rights and Safeguards. In addition, District provided 

regular notice to Parents of their special education assessment rights. Although Parents 

had many opportunities to inform District that Student had been diagnosed with ADHD 

and was previously eligible for special education, Parents failed to disclose that 

information in Student’s enrollment papers and at meetings with District staff. When 

Student required general education intervention in academics, District provided 

academic counseling. Student never exhibited any inappropriate behaviors or 

depression at school; and Parents failed to provide any information which would have 

caused District to refer Student for assessment. District contends that Ms. Vellutini-Stern 

assessed Student, prepared a psychoeducational report dated January 8, 2012, and on 

January 13, 2012 an IEP team determined Student was eligible for special education as a 

pupil with OHI. Finally, District contends that it offered Student a FAPE in the January 13, 

2012 IEP. District contends it appropriately did not implement the offer because Student 

was expelled until March 2012 and District offered to provide Student with language 

and speech and counseling services at the SELPA. Accordingly, District contends Student 

is not entitled to the requested remedies. 
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APPLICABLE LAW 

4. California special education law and the IDEA provide that children with 

disabilities have the right to a FAPE that emphasizes special education and related 

services designed to meet their unique needs and to prepare them for employment and 

independent living. (20 U.S.C. § 1400(d); Ed. Code, § 56000.) FAPE consists of special 

education and related services that are available to the child at no charge to the parent 

or guardian, meet the standards of the State educational agency, and conform to the 

student’s individual education program. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(9).) ‚Special education‛ is 

defined as ‚specially designed instruction at no cost to the parents, to meet the unique 

needs of a child with a disability….‛ (20 U.S.C. § 1401(29).) California law also defines 

special education as instruction designed to meet the unique needs of individuals with 

exceptional needs coupled with related services as needed to enable the student to 

benefit fully from instruction. (Ed. Code, § 56031.) ‚Related services‛ are transportation 

and other developmental, corrective and supportive services as may be required to 

assist the child in benefiting from special education. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(26).) In California, 

related services are called designated instruction and services (DIS), which must be 

provided if they may be required to assist the child in benefiting from special education. 

(Ed. Code, § 56363, subd. (a).)  

5. A school district is required to actively and systematically seek out, 

identify, locate, and evaluate all children with disabilities, including homeless children, 

wards of the state, and children attending private schools, who are in need of special 

education and related services, regardless of the severity of the disability, including 

those individuals advancing from grade to grade. (20 U.S.C. §1412(a)(3)(A); Ed. Code, §§ 

56171, 56301, subds. (a) and (b).) This duty to seek and serve children with disabilities is 

known as ‚child find.‛ ‚The purpose of the child-find evaluation is to provide access to 

special education.‛ (Fitzgerald v. Camdenton R-III School Dist. (8th Cir. 2006) 439 F.3d 
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773, 776.) A district’s child find obligation toward a specific child is triggered when there 

is reason to suspect a disability and reason to suspect that special education services 

may be needed to address that disability. (Dept. of Education, State of Hawaii v. Cari Rae 

S. (D. Hawaii 2001) 158 F.Supp.2d 1190, 1194. (Cari Rae S.).) The threshold for suspecting

that a child has a disability is relatively low. (Id. at p. 1195.) A district’s appropriate 

inquiry is whether the child should be referred for an evaluation, not whether the child 

actually qualifies for services. (Ibid.)  

6. The child-find obligations apply to children who are suspected of having a

disability and being in need of special education, even if they are advancing from grade 

to grade. (34 C.F.R. § 300.125(a)(2)(ii)(2006)5.) Concomitantly, failing grades alone do not 

necessarily establish that a district has failed in its child find obligation or that it failed to 

provide an educational benefit to a student. (See Sherman v. Mamaroneck Union Free 

Sch. Dist. (2nd Cir. 2003) 340 F.3d 87, 93; Mather v. Hartford Sch. Dist. (D. Vt. 1996) 928 

F.Supp. 437, 446.)

5 All subsequent references to the Code of Federal Regulations are to the 2006 

edition. 

7. A request for an initial evaluation to determine whether a student is a child

with a disability in need of special education and services can be made by either the 

parent or a public agency. (34 C.F.R. § 300.301(b).) Further, the IDEA requires that 

parents be provided with a copy of the procedural safeguards upon the initial referral 

for evaluation. (34 C.F.R. § 300.504(a)(1) ); Ed. Code, § 56301 subd. (d)(2)(A).)  

8. A pupil shall be referred for special education instruction and services only

after the resources of the regular education program have been considered and, where 

appropriate, utilized. (Ed. Code, § 56303.) A pupil shall not be determined to be an 

individual with exceptional needs if the prevailing factor for the determination is one of 
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the following: (A) lack of appropriate instruction in reading; (B) lack of appropriate 

instruction in mathematics; (C) limited English proficiency; or (D) if the pupil does not 

otherwise meet the eligibility criteria under federal and California law. (Ed. Code, § 

56329, subd. (a)(2).) The law defines an individual with exceptional needs as one who, 

because of a disability requires instruction and services which cannot be provided with 

modification of the regular school program in order to ensure that the individual is 

provided a FAPE. (Ed. Code, § 56026, subd. (b).) 

9. ‚Other health impairment‛ is defined, in relevant part, as ‚having limited 

strength, vitality, or alertness, including a heightened alertness to environmental stimuli, 

that results in limited alertness with respect to the educational environment, that…is due 

to chronic or acute health problems such as…attention deficit disorder or attention 

deficit hyperactivity disorder…and *a+dversely affects a child’s educational performance.‛ 

(34 C.F.R. § 300.8(c)(9)); see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3030, subd. (f) [defining OHI as 

‚*a+ pupil has limited strength, vitality or alertness, due to chronic or acute health 

problems…which adversely affects a pupil’s educational performance.‛+.) (See also Ed. 

Code, § 56339, subd. (a).) 

10. A procedural violation only constitutes a denial of a FAPE if the violation 

impeded the child’s right to a FAPE, significantly impeded the parents’ opportunity to 

participate in the decision-making process, or caused a deprivation of educational 

benefits. (20 U.S.C. § 1415 (f)(3)(E)(ii); Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (f)(2).) If a procedural 

violation is found to have significantly impeded the parents’ opportunity to participate 

in the IEP process, the analysis does not include consideration of whether the student 

ultimately received a FAPE, but instead focuses on the remedy available to the parents. 

(Amanda J. ex rel. Annette J. v. Clark County School Dist. (9th Cir. 2001) 267 F.3d 877, 

892-895 (Amanda J.) *school’s failure to timely provide parents with assessment results 

indicating a suspicion of autism significantly impeded parents right to participate in the 
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IEP process, resulting in compensatory education award]; (W.G. v. Board of Trustees of 

Target Range School District, (9th Cir. 1992) 960 F.2d 1479 1485-1487 (Target Range) 

*when parent participation was limited by district’s pre-formulated placement decision, 

parents were awarded reimbursement for private school tuition during time when no 

procedurally proper IEP was held].) Violations of child find, and of the obligation to 

assess a student, are procedural violations of the IDEA. (Cari Rae S., supra, 158 F.Supp.2d 

at p. 1196; Park v. Anaheim Union High School Dist. (9th Cir. 2006) 464 F.3d 1025, 1031.) 

11. In Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. 

Rowley (1982) 458 U.S. 176, 200 [102 S.Ct. 3034] (Rowley), the Supreme Court held that 

‚the ‘basic floor of opportunity’ provided by the *IDEA+ consists of access to specialized 

instruction and related services which are individually designed to provide educational 

benefit to‛ a child with special needs. Rowley expressly rejected an interpretation of the 

IDEA that would require a school district to ‚maximize the potential‛ of each special 

needs child ‚commensurate with the opportunity provided‛ to typically developing 

peers. (Id. at p. 200.) Instead, Rowley interpreted the FAPE requirement of the IDEA as 

being met when a child receives access to an education that is reasonably calculated to 

‚confer some educational benefit‛ upon the child. (Id. at pp. 200, 203-204.)  

12. A district’s determinations regarding special education are based on what 

was objectively reasonable for the district to conclude given the information the district 

had at the time of making the determination. A district is not held to a standard based 

on ‚hindsight.‛ (See Adams v. State of Oregon (9th Cir. 1999) 195 F.3d 1141, 1149.) 

ANALYSIS OF ISSUE ONE: DISTRICT SATISFIED ITS CHILD FIND OBLIGATIONS 

13. Legal Conclusions 4 through 12 are incorporated by reference. 

14. Student has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence 

that he was denied a FAPE because District did not meet its child find obligations and 

find him eligible for special education services. Redondo District found Student eligible 
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for special education services and he received services from June 15, 2007 and until June 

10, 2010, when he was exited. Parents were knowledgeable about the identification of 

students with special needs. For three years Student was qualified for special education 

as a Student with OHI due to his ADHD, and during that period of time, Parents 

attended at least three IEP team meetings and at each IEP meeting received a copy of 

the Procedural Safeguards. Student’s academic performance and behaviors did not 

trigger District’s child find duty specifically as to Student. Finally, the first time Parents 

informed District that Student had an ADHD diagnosis was in October 2011, when he 

was suspended and ultimately expelled from the District.  

15. District actively sought and was able to identify students with special 

needs. Each year District advised parents of its child find policy contained in its Annual 

Notification of Parent or Guardian’ Rights and Responsibilities (Annual Notification), 

which it sent to students’ families at the beginning of each academic year. Student was 

given a copy of the Annual Notification when he enrolled in September 2010 and again 

in the beginning of the 2011-2012 Parents were sent the Annual Notification.  

16. Student asserts that during the 2010-2011 school year through November 

3, 2011, District should have identified and assessed him because of his poor grades, his 

low motivation, inappropriate behaviors, prior diagnoses of ADHD, and depression 

appearing in the fall of 2011. However, Student failed to show that District’s child find 

obligations were triggered by Student’s grades and behavior.  

17. Student asserts that because during Student’s first trimester at Hermosa 

Valley, he struggled academically and was failing Language Arts, Computers and 

Science, District should have reason to suspect that Student had a disability that 

required special education services. However, grades alone do not necessarily establish 

that District failed in its child find obligation. Beginning in October 2010, District 

attempted to use regular education interventions by providing weekly academic 
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counseling from school counselor Christy Cole and by November of 2010, 

recommending that Student participate in Success Seekers, a program to improve his 

organization and study skills. Student’s teachers, including Ms. Cole, convincingly 

testified Student’s poor grades were due to his lack of motivation and because he was 

disinterested in school, and failed to prepare for class and turn in his homework. The 

personal attention appeared to have worked. Second trimester Student’s grades and 

attitude regarding his school work improved. Mr. Coleman persuasively testified that 

Student had progressed academically in the 2010-2011 school year, with some tutoring, 

and had not demonstrated pervasive behaviors that would have triggered District to 

refer Student for assessment. The evidence showed that District properly and promptly 

utilized general education interventions. Instead of demonstrating a child find violation, 

District’s conduct was a measured and appropriate response to the performance of a 

new student, whom, as discussed below, District had no reason to believe had recently 

been in special education. 

18. Student argues that it was not only Student’s academics that triggered 

District’s child find obligation, it was also his behavioral and social skills problems. The 

evidence does not support Student’s contentions. During his first trimester at Hermosa 

Valley, four of Student’s teachers reported that he needed to improve his behavior and 

follow directions. However, his behavior improved and by third trimester instead of 

earning an ‚N‛ in four subjects he earned an ‚N‛ in two. Student’s disciplinary record 

consisted of only one imposition of discipline on March 31, 2011, a one day suspension, 

which is not unusual. After reviewing Student’s disciplinary record, Mr. Coleman, Ms. 

Taylor and Ms. Camacho provided persuasive testimony that Student’s behavior was not 

sufficient to warrant an evaluation for special education services in sixth grade.  

19. Student argues that District was informed of Student’s diagnosis of OHI 

rendered while he attended Redondo District, which, in conjunction with Student’s 
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current behavioral, social, and academic difficulties, placed District on notice that 

Student required special education services under the eligibility category of OHI. 

However, the evidence does not support Student’s assertion. District had no knowledge 

until October 2011 that Student had been diagnosed with ADHD, assessed for special 

education services, found eligible as a student with OHI in a prior district, and had an IEP 

from June 15, 2007 until June 10, 2010, when he was exited. Parents provided credible 

testimony that they were relieved and happy that Student no longer required special 

education services. When Father enrolled Student in District in September 2010, 

although asked he failed to answer questions about special education and failed to 

inform District that Student had been eligible as a student with OHI and had IEPs for the 

2007-2008, 2008-2009, and 2009-2010 school years. The evidence showed that after 

Student was exited from special education, Parents were reluctant to admit he was a 

special education student.  

20. Student asserts that Parents informed his teachers at a November 2010 

meeting and Dr. Flynn at a March 31, 2011 meeting that Student was diagnosed with 

ADHD. However, District presented more persuasive evidence to show that District was 

not informed that Student had a diagnosis of ADHD until October of 2011. Mr. Coleman 

and Ms. Taylor provided persuasive testimony that Parents failed to discuss Student’s 

ADHD in November 2010. In addition, Dr. Flynn provided persuasive testimony that if 

Mother informed her that Student had ADHD, it was her practice to ask for a doctor’s 

letter to verify the diagnosis.  

21. In October 2011, when Parents informed District that Student had ADHD 

and requested a District assessment for special education services, District promptly 

prepared an assessment plan, assessed Student and scheduled an IEP meeting for 

January 13, 2012. Prior to that time, District had no reason to suspect that Student had a 

disability requiring special education services. Ms. Vellutini-Stern issued her report on 
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January 8, 2012, indicating that Student did, in fact, qualify for special education 

services, District promptly held an IEP team meeting, and declared Student eligible 

under the category of OHI.  

22. The fact, therefore, that Ms. Vellutini-Stern found Student eligible in 

January 2012 after Redondo District exited Student from special education is irrelevant, 

as Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s report developed data that was not available to the IEP team in 

June 2010, and was based on conduct and school performance from the fall of 2011. 

The Redondo District conducted Student’s triennial in June 2010 and exited Student 

from special education. Student did not demonstrate at hearing that the assessments 

conducted by the Redondo District were conducted improperly, or that the decision to 

exit him from special education while in their program had been improper.  

23. Given the above factors, Student failed to meet his burden of establishing 

the District failed in its child find obligations. Student presented no evidence of 

inappropriate behaviors, demeanor, or attitude which would have triggered a child find 

obligation. Parents’ later claim that District should have known of Student’s ADHD was 

not supported by the evidence, given Student serving only a one day suspension during 

the 2010-2011 school year and Parent’s failure to share with District that Student was 

diagnosed with ADHD. Student failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the 

evidence that District denied him a FAPE by not meeting its child find obligations. 

(Factual Findings 1-67, and 91-92; Legal Conclusions 4-23.) 

ANALYSIS OF ISSUE TWO: STUDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A FAPE FROM 

SEPTEMBER 2010 THROUGH JANUARY 12, 2012 

24. Legal Conclusions 4 through 12 are incorporated by reference. 

25. Student contends that because District failed in its child find duty, it failed 

to assess Student, hold an IEP and find him eligible for special education services. 

Specifically, Student contends because of District’s failures Student was not offered and 
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provided the placement and services required to meet his unique needs. District 

contends that it did not fail in its child find duty, and even it had assessed Student, he 

would not have been eligible. District asserts that Student was exited from special 

education in June 2010 and Parents consented. As discussed below, Student has failed 

to meet his burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that District 

denied Student a FAPE from September 2010 through January 12, 2012.  

26. As established in Factual Findings 1-67 and Legal Conclusions 4-25,

Student failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that District failed in its 

child find obligation. District had no reason to suspect Student had a disability requiring 

special education services until October of 2011, at which time District immediately 

offered Parents an assessment plan at their request and began the assessment process. 

Because in Issue 1, Student failed to show that District’s duty to assess Student had 

been triggered under its child find obligation, this Decision need not analyze whether 

and what type of placement and services Student should have been offered by District. 

Phrased another way, because Student has failed to show a procedural violation of IDEA, 

this Decision need not determine whether District’s conduct resulted in deprivation of 

educational benefits or interfered with Student’s right to a FAPE from September 2010 

through January 12, 2012. Student did not meet his burden of proof on Issue 2.  

ANALYSIS OF ISSUE THREE: FAILURE TO OFFER AND PROVIDE FAPE SINCE JANUARY

13, 2012 

Procedural Violations 

27. Legal Conclusions 4 through12 are incorporated by reference.

28. Student contends that District committed procedural violations that

resulted in a denial of FAPE at the January 13, 2012 IEP team meeting, at which Student 

was found eligible for special education services. Specifically, Student contends that 

District denied Student a FAPE by failing to provide for Parents meaningful participation 
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at the January 13, 2012 IEP, by its failure to consider Parents’ concerns relating to 

Student’s placement while on expulsion, discuss Student’s placement options while on 

expulsion, and predetermining the offer of placement during the expulsion period.6 

(Issue 3(a).) Student also contends that District committed a procedural violation by 

failing to invite and include anyone from Westview School to the January 13, 2012 IEP 

team meeting. (Issue 3(b).)  

6 In the closing brief, Student also argues that District committed a procedural 

violation when on February 6, 2012, District sent Parents an offer of alternative 

placements and failed to convene an IEP team meeting. Student also argues he was 

denied a FAPE because the IEP failed to contain a formal written offer that specified the 

placement and services during his expulsion. However, these allegations were not 

alleged as a ‚problem‛ in the complaint. Accordingly, because ‚the party requesting the 

due process hearing shall not be allowed to raise issues‛ that were not raised in the 

complaint, the ALJ has not addressed these contentions. (Ed. Code, § 56502, subd. (i).)  

29. District disagrees and contends it committed no procedural violations in

connection with the January 13, 2012 IEP. 

30. In resolving the question of whether a school district has offered a FAPE,

the focus is on the adequacy of the school district’s proposed program. (See Gregory K. 

v. Longview School Dist. (9th Cir. 1987) 811 F.2d 1307, 1314.) A school district is not 

required to place a student in a program preferred by a parent, even if that program will 

result in greater educational benefit to the student. (Ibid.) For a school district’s offer of 

special education services to a disabled pupil to constitute a FAPE under the IDEA, a 

school district’s offer of educational services and/or placement must be designed to 

meet the student’s unique needs, comport with the student’s IEP, and be reasonably 
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calculated to provide the pupil with some educational benefit in the least restrictive 

environment. (Ibid.)  

31. An IEP is a written document that contains statements regarding a child’s

‚present levels of academic achievement and functional performance‛ and a ‚statement 

of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals‛ designed to meet 

the child’s educational needs. (34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a); Ed. Code, § 56345, subds. (a)(1) 

&(2).) The IEP must also contain: 1) a description ‚of the manner in which the progress 

of the pupil toward meeting the annual goals…will be measured and when periodic 

reports on the progress the pupil is making…will be provided‛ (34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(3); 

Ed. Code, § 56345, subd. (a)(3)); 2) a statement of the special education and related 

services and supplementary aids and services to be provided to the pupil and a 

statement of program modifications and supports to enable the pupil to advance 

toward attaining his goals and make progress in the general education curriculum (34 

C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(4); Ed. Code, § 56345, subd. (a)(4)); 3) an explanation of the extent, if

any, that the pupil will not participate with nondisabled pupils in the regular class or 

activities (34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(5); Ed. Code, § 56345, subd. (a)(5)); and 4) a statement of 

any individual appropriate accommodations necessary to measure academic 

achievement and functional performance of the pupil on state and district wide 

assessments. (34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(6); Ed. Code, § 56345, subd. (a)(6).)  

32. In general, when developing an IEP, the IEP team must consider: the

strengths of the child; the concerns of the parents for enhancing the education of their 

child; the results of the initial or most recent evaluation of the child; and the academic, 

developmental, and functional needs of the child. (Ed. Code, § 56341.1, subd. (a).) The 

IEP team is required to include one or both of the student’s parents or their 

representative, a regular education teacher if a student is, or may be, participating in the 

regular education environment, a special education teacher, a representative of the 
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school district who is qualified to provide or supervise specially designed instruction to 

meet the unique needs of children with disabilities, is knowledgeable about the general 

education curriculum and is knowledgeable about available resources. (34 C.F.R. § 

300.321(a).) At the discretion of the parent or the agency, other individuals who have 

knowledge or special expertise regarding the child, including related services personnel 

as appropriate, can participate as an IEP team member. (34 C.F.R. § 300.321 (a).) The IEP 

team is also required to include an individual who can interpret the instructional 

implications of assessment results, and, at the discretion of the parent or school district, 

include other individuals who have knowledge or special expertise regarding the child. 

(34 C.F.R. § 300.321(a).) Finally, whenever appropriate, the child with the disability should 

be present. (34 C.F.R. § 300.321(a).) 

33. The parents of a child with a disability must be afforded an opportunity to

participate in IEP team meetings. (34 C.F.R. § 300.501(a) & (b); Ed. Code, §§ 56500.4, 

56341, subd. (b), 56341.5, subds. (a) & (b).) ‚Among the most important procedural 

safeguards are those that protect the parents’ right to be involved in the development 

of their child’s educational plan.‛ (Amanda J., supra, 267 F.3d at p. 882.) A parent has 

meaningfully participated in the development of an IEP when he or she is informed of 

the child’s problems, attends the IEP meeting, expresses disagreement regarding the IEP 

team’s conclusions, and requests revisions in the IEP. (N.L. v. Knox County Schools (6th 

Cir. 2003) 315 F.3d 688, 693; Fuhrmann v. East Hanover Bd. of Educ. (3d Cir. 1993) 993 

F.2d 1031, 1036 (Fuhrmann) [parent who has an opportunity to discuss a proposed IEP

and whose concerns are considered by the IEP team has participated in the IEP process 

in a meaningful way].) 

34. An education agency’s predetermination of an IEP seriously infringes on

parental participation in the IEP process, which constitutes a procedural denial of a 

FAPE. (Deal v. Hamilton County Bd. of Educ. (6th Cir. 2004) 392 F.3d 840, 858.) 
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Predetermination occurs ‚when an educational agency has made its determination prior 

to the IEP meeting, including when it presents one placement option at the meeting and 

is unwilling to consider other alternatives.‛ (H.B., et al. v. Las Virgenes Unified School 

Dist. (9th Cir. 2007) 2007 WL 1989594 [107 LRP 37880, 48 IDELR 31]; see also, S. ex rel G. 

v. Vashon Island Sch. Dist.(9th Cir. 2003) 337 F.3d 1115, 1131 *‚A school district violates 

IDEA procedures if it independently develops an IEP, without meaningful parental 

participation, then simply presents the IEP to the parent for ratification,‛ citing Target 

Range, supra, 960 F.2d at p.1484].) 

35. A free appropriate public education is available to all children with

disabilities including students who have been suspended or expelled. (20 U.S.C. § 

1412(a)(1); Ed. Code, § 48915.5, subd. (b).)  

36. When a student with a disability is removed from his current placement, a

school district is required to continue to provide educational services so as to enable the 

student to continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in 

another setting, and to progress towards meeting the goals set out in the student’s IEP. 

(20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(D)(ii) and § 1415(k)(G)(i); 34 C.F.R. § 300.530(d)(i).) 

37. As to Issue 3(a), Student did not demonstrate a procedural violation

resulting in a denial of a FAPE because of predetermination or the failure to allow 

Parents meaningful participation. The evidence showed that based on IEP team 

discussions, present levels, goals, accommodations, placement and services, were all 

discussed for the time period when Student would return from expulsion. Ultimately, the 

IEP did contain an offer for the period when Student returned, and the evidence showed 

the offer had been based on the team discussion, which included parental input. As to 

the discussion about Student’s program while he was expelled, the evidence also 

showed that it was not predetermined and that parental input was taken. Specifically, 

there was a discussion that Parents wanted Student to remain at Westview during the 

Accessibility modified document



48 

expulsion due to his progress and the likelihood of that progress stopping if Student 

had to transition programs for a short period of time. District IEP team members 

discussed Student transferring to Opportunities for Learning during this time. Ultimately, 

rather than predetermination, the evidence showed that District made no decision on 

the placement and services during expulsion, and instead put in the IEP notes that it 

wanted until January 24, 2012, to come up with a response. Thus, Student did not 

demonstrate a procedural violation of either predetermination or failure to allow 

parents to participate by presenting information about Westview . (Factual Findings 1-

88; Legal Conclusions 1, 4-37.) 

38. As to Issue 3(b), Student failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the

evidence that Student was denied a FAPE because District did not invite anyone from 

Westview to the January 13, 2012 IEP meeting. The evidence showed that Mr. Coleman, 

a general education teacher, and Ms. Taylor a special education teacher participated in 

Student’s January 13, 2012 IEP. The evidence further showed that Mr. Coleman was 

Student’s social studies teacher in the sixth and seventh grade, and he had particular 

knowledge about Student and his educational needs. As long as District had a regular 

education teacher at the IEP, the procedural requirements of the IDEA were satisfied. 

There is no statutory or regulatory mandate that would have required District to invite 

representatives from Parent’s preferred unilateral placement.  

39. Instead, it was entirely at the discretion of Parents or the District to invite

Westview representatives or teachers. The evidence showed that Student’s teachers at 

Westview did not know Student well because he had only attended Westview for eight 

days. However, if Student believed it was important to have Westview staff participate at 

his IEP, he could have invited staff. Student was in the best position to know who at 

Westview would be able to discuss his progress. District’s failure to invite and include 

anyone from Westview was not a violation of IDEA procedures and did not interfere with 
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Parents meaningful participation in the decision making process at the January 13, 2012 

IEP. Having failed to demonstrate a procedural violation, Student was not deprived of a 

FAPE on this ground. (Factual Findings 1-88, and 91-92; Legal Conclusions 1, 4-39.)  

Substantive Violations 

40. Legal Conclusions 4 through 12 and 30 through 36 are incorporated by

reference. 

41. Student contends that District committed substantive violations that

resulted in a denial of FAPE at the January 13, 2012 IEP team meeting, at which Student 

was found eligible for special education services. Specifically, Student contends District 

denied Student a FAPE by failing to address how Student’s accommodations, goals and 

services would be implemented during expulsion (Issue 3 (c).) Student also contends 

that District committed a substantive violation by failing to offer him an appropriate 

placement during his expulsion where the services, accommodations and goals in his IEP 

could be implemented and monitored. (Issue 3 (d).) Specifically, Student contends that 

Opportunities for Learning was inappropriate because it was a two hour program, 

without special education teachers and teacher supervision to monitor his progress on 

his goals. In addition, Student argues that on February 6, 2012, District offered Student 

outside the IEP process alternative placements: Opportunities for Learning and Beach 

Cities. Student argues that Beach Cities might have provided an appropriate placement 

but there was no space for Student. 

42. District disagrees, and contends that it provided Student with a FAPE at all

relevant times. 

43. As to Issue 3(c), Student demonstrated by a preponderance of the

evidence that District deprived Student of a FAPE at the January 13, 2012 IEP team 

meeting when it failed to address how Student’s accommodations, goals and services 

would be implemented during Student’s expulsion. Although the IEP team was prepared 
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to offer Student special education services, RSP, language and speech, and counseling 

and proposed goals and accommodations for the time after expulsion, the IEP did not 

resolve Student’s placement during expulsion, or how services, accommodations and 

modifications that were required for a FAPE would be implement during the expulsion 

period. 

44. As discussed above in Legal Conclusion 36, District must provide a special 

education student who has been expelled an appropriate placement, accommodations, 

goals services and placement to address his needs. In other words, IDEA unambiguously 

required that Student be provided a FAPE, even if he had been expelled. The IEP 

program must be available to Student during the term of his expulsion so that he was 

be able to work on his goals, and make academic progress. Through the unrefutted 

testimony of Parents and Ms. Camacho there was no discussion at the IEP team meeting 

about how to implement District’s proposed special education program during 

Student’s expulsion.  

45. At the January 13, 2012 IEP meeting, Student was found eligible as a 

Student with OHI. The evidence showed that the team identified Student’s areas of need 

as pragmatic language, behavior, academics, work completion, time management and 

class preparation, based on Ms. Vellutini-Stern’s finding that Student had deficits in 

these areas. In order to remediate Student’s academic deficits, District offered 

specialized academic instruction in time management, work completion, and class 

preparation to help Student to earn passing grades his classes. District offered 264-

minutes per week of academic instruction at the District’s Learning Center; 30-minutes 

per week of group language and speech at County Office of Education; and 30-minutes 

twice a week of individual counseling. Student consented to the services and their time 

and frequency. However, the evidence showed that the IEP team did not address how 

any of the above could or would be provided during the period before Student was 
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allowed back on a general education campus. It follows that if Student needed the type 

of support such as RSP, speech therapy, and counseling to receive a FAPE if he returned 

to school following his expulsion period, he would need similar supports to access his 

education while expelled.  

46. Because District failed to discuss the implementation of Student’s 

program, Student’s readmission to the District under the terms of his expulsion was also 

jeopardized. District’s December 16, 2012 Expulsion Decision included a five step 

rehabilitation plan that Student must complete prior to his readmission to the District. 

Student was required to improve his academic performance, maintain a grade point 

average of 2.5 in all course work and attend the alternative educational placement. If 

District failed to offer a program to meet Student’s unique needs during the expulsion 

period, it would be difficult for Student to make academic progress, complete his 

rehabilitation plan and return. The evidence showed that as offered in the January 13, 

2012 IEP, Student required additional academic instruction and services to make 

progress and to improve his academic performance. Under these circumstances, District 

was required to devise a program for Student that would allow him to access his 

education. 

47. In its defense, District argues this was a novel situation. Student was 

expelled before he was qualified for special education, and as an expelled Student he 

was not entitled to any placement other than a community day school, such as 

Opportunities for Learning. Ms. Camacho admitted this was an unusual situation. 

Student was assessed at the SELPA office because he was not allowed on campus. She 

opined that Student was not entitled to special education services, academic instruction, 

speech and language and counseling, during his expulsion. However, as District now 

acknowledges in its closing brief, although Student was expelled, it had a duty to 

provide him with a FAPE. Although Student was expelled from the District until March 
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16, 2012, when the IEP team found Student eligible for special education services on 

January 13, 2012, District, was required to provide placement and special education 

services designed to remediate Student’s academic deficits to allow him to receive a 

meaningful educational benefit. District failed to offer Student any placement at the IEP 

meeting, and its efforts afterwards that consisted of sending letters to Student offering 

piecemeal services or placements that had no availability, did not satisfy District’s duty 

to offer a FAPE. 

48. Because District did not offer Student an education program for the 

expulsion period that addressed how his accommodations and goals would be 

implemented during that time, Student was deprived of a FAPE on this ground. (Factual 

Findings 1-88, 91-92; Legal Conclusions 1, 4-48.) 

49. As to Issue 3(d), Student demonstrated by a preponderance of the 

evidence that District deprived Student of a FAPE at the January 13, 2012 IEP team 

meeting when it failed to offer Student an appropriate placement during Student’s 

expulsion. Although there was a discussion at the IEP team meeting about Westview and 

Opportunities for Learning, District failed to ultimately offer any placement during 

expulsion, and instead put in the notes that it wanted until January 24, 2012, to come up 

with a response. District’s response came February 6, 2012, in District’s letter outside the 

IEP team meeting process wherein District offered Student a choice of placements, 

either Opportunities for Learning or Beach Cities. As discussed in detail below, the 

evidence showed that given Student’s unique needs, Opportunities for Learning was not 

an appropriate placement and that Beach Cities was not even available. Thus, even 

outside the IEP process, District did not offer Student an appropriate placement. 

50. District asserts that its initial offer of placement at Opportunities for 

Learning was appropriate. However, the evidence showed that if Student attended 

Opportunities for Learning, it would be impossible to implement his goals and 
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accommodations. Parents’ persuasive testimony that this placement was inappropriate 

for Student was corroborated by Ms. Camacho. Without a structured classroom and a 

school week more than two hours, implementing Student’s IEP was not possible. In 

addition, without a counselor, speech therapist, special education and general education 

teacher at Opportunities for Learning, monitoring Student’s behavior goals was not 

possible. District failed to provide any credible evidence that Opportunities for Learning 

was an appropriate placement for Student.  

51. Student contends that although Beach Cities might have been appropriate, 

it was not available. Father provided credible testimony that on or about February 17, 

2012 he visited Beach Cities and met the owner Dan Campbell (Mr. Campbell). Father 

toured the program and thought it appeared to be appropriate. At the end of the tour, 

Mr. Campbell told father that there was no space at Beach Cities for Student. Father 

called Dr. Rasmussen to inform him that there was no space at the program. District 

argues that Father’s testimony about Beach Cities’ unavailability was not corroborated. 

However, Father’s testimony was persuasive. If Father were not interested in Beach Cities 

he would not have visited the program. Ms. Camacho corroborated Father’s testimony 

that Father met with Mr. Campbell, and Father had a positive visit. Her testimony 

supported Father’s perception that Beach Cities was not available. According to the 

uncontroverted testimony of Ms. Camacho, although Beach Cities would accept Student, 

Mr. Campbell was not able to provide a start date until a student who completed the 

Beach Cities program returned to the community. Thus, Beach Cities cannot be 

considered to have been an offer of a FAPE when even by District’s account, there was 

no certainty when, if ever, Student could attend. 

52. Finally, District contends that it clarified its offer and on February 28, 2012, 

explained that although Student failed to respond to District’s alternative placement 

offer and remained enrolled at Westview Student services, it offered to provide Student 
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speech and counseling services at the SELPA. Student argues that by February 28, 2012 

when District offered a plan to provide Student with language and speech and 

counseling services at the SELPA, Student had missed seven weeks of language and 

speech and counseling services. The evidence that Student required those services was 

established by District witnesses and there was no evidence to the contrary. Given the 

above, Student established by a preponderance of the evidence that the District’s 

unilateral, untimely offer of alternative placements outside of the IEP team meeting was 

not an offer of FAPE. Simply put, Opportunities for Learning was inappropriate, and 

Beach Cities was unavailable, such that Student was never offered an appropriate 

placement during the expulsion period. District’s failure to offer Student an appropriate 

placement during the expulsion period denied Student a FAPE. (Factual Findings 1-88, 

and 91-92; Legal Conclusions 1, 4-52.) 

THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY FOR THE DISTRICT’S DENIAL OF FAPE 

53. As discussed above, Student demonstrated by a preponderance of the 

evidence that District denied him a FAPE by failing to offer an appropriate placement 

and address how his accommodations and goals would be implemented during his 

expulsion (Issues 3(c) and 3(d)). This section addresses Student’s remedy.  

54. A parent may be entitled to reimbursement for placing a student in a 

private school without the agreement of the school district if the parents prove at a due 

process hearing that: 1) the District had not made a FAPE available to the student prior 

to the placement; and 2) that the private placement is appropriate. (20 U.S.C. 

§1412(a)(10)(C)(ii); 34 C.F.R. § 300.148(c); Ed. Code, § 56175; see also School Committee 

of the Town of Burlington v. Dept. of Education (1985) 471 U.S. 359, 369 [105 S.Ct. 1996] 

(Burlington) (reimbursement for unilateral placement may be awarded under the IDEA 

when the District’s proposed placement does not provide a FAPE.) 
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55. To be appropriate, the parent’s private placement does not have to meet 

the standards of a public school offer of FAPE. (34 C.F.R. § 300.148(c); Ed. Code, §§ 

56175, 56176 .) It must, however, address the student’s needs and provide educational 

benefit to the student. (Target Range, supra, 960 F.2d at p. 1487.) The Ninth Circuit 

clarified that a private placement need not furnish ‚every special service necessary to 

maximize *a+ child’s potential.‛ (C.B. v. Garden Grove Unified School Dist. (9th Cir. 2011) 

635 F.3d 1155, 1159.) Instead, the private placement must provide ‚educational 

instruction specially designed to meet the unique needs of a handicapped child, 

supported by such services as are necessary to benefit from instruction.‛ (Ibid.) 

56. Compensatory education is an equitable remedy designed to ‚ensure that 

the student is appropriately educated within the meaning of the IDEA.‛ (Parents of 

Student W v. Puyallup School Dist.t, No. 3 (9th Cir. 1994) 31 F.3d 1489, 1497 (Puyallup). 

There is no obligation to provide day-for-day compensation for time missed. The 

remedy of compensatory education depends on a ‚fact-specific analysis‛ of the 

individual circumstances of the case. (Ibid.) The court is given broad discretion in 

fashioning a remedy, as long as the relief is appropriate in light of the purpose of special 

education law. (Burlington, supra, 471 U.S. at p. 369.) An award of reimbursement may 

be reduced if warranted by an analysis of the equities of the case. The conduct of both 

parties must be reviewed and considered to determine whether relief is appropriate. 

(Puyallup, supra, 31 F.3d at pp. 1496-1498.) 

57. As discussed above District failed to offer Student a FAPE and provide him 

with a FAPE from January 13, 2012 through April 2012 when he returned to District. 

Parents did everything required of them, including providing notice of their intent to 

place Student at Westview. They visited the inappropriate Opportunities for Learning 

placement and even visited District’s unavailable alternative, Beach Cities, which was 

offered weeks after Student had been found eligible. However, District did not offer a 
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FAPE during expulsion. Because there was no appropriate offer of FAPE from the District, 

Parents had no choice but to place Student in a private school that would meet his 

needs. Although Parents had placed Student in Westview before he was found eligible, 

this fact should not deny Parents reimbursement for Westview beginning at the time 

Student was found eligible. The evidence established that Westview was designed for 

children with unique needs like Student’s and that Student made academic progress 

there. Student is not entitled to reimbursement for the period before January 13, 2012, 

because, as discussed in Issues 1 and 2, District did not violate its child find duty prior to 

finding Student eligible on January 13, 2012. 

58. Given the good faith of Student’s Parents at all times in this matter and the 

delays caused by the District when it failed to address Student’s program during 

expulsion after finding him eligible for special education, it is appropriate to award 

Student’s Parents reimbursement for their costs to educate Student at Westview School 

from the date he was found eligible for special education, January 13, 2012, through 

April of 2012, a total of 60 days of attendance.Student presented evidence that he 

attended Westview for 68 days beginning January 3, 2012 at a cost of $183.33 per day. 

Reducing this amount to reflect that Student was found eligible as of January 13, 2012, 

Student is entitled to reimbursement for 60 days of attendance, which is $10, 999.80. 

Student demonstrated that his daily transportation cost was $33.32 and that in April of 

2012; Westview only provided transportation four days out of the nine he attended. 

Similarly, District should reimburse Student in the amount of $1,832.60, representing 55 

days of transportation. Thus, the total reimbursement Parents are entitled to is $12, 

832.40. (Factual Findings 1-92; Legal Conclusions 1, 4-58.)  

ORDER 

Within 60 days of the date of this Decision, the District will reimburse Parents in 

the amount of $12, 832.40. 
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PREVAILING PARTY 

Pursuant to California Education Code section 56507, subdivision (d), the hearing 

decision must indicate the extent to which each party has prevailed on each issue heard 

and decided. Here, District prevailed on Issue 1, Issue 2, and Issue 3(a) and 3(b). Student 

prevailed on Issues 3(c) and 3(d).  

RIGHT TO APPEAL THIS DECISION 

The parties to this case have the right to appeal this Decision to a court of 

competent jurisdiction. If an appeal is made, it must be made within 90 days of receipt 

of this decision. (Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (k).) 

DATED: November 15, 2012. 

______________/s/________________ 

CLARA L. SLIFKIN 

Administrative Law Judge 

Office of Administrative Hearings  
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